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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

     P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	SABRINA W. LAWHORNE, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

ALASKA GARDEN & PET SUPPLY INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200421412
AWCB Decision No. 07-0039

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on March 1, 2007


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim for benefits on December 19, 2006 and January 9, 2007 at Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Robert Rehbock represented the employee.   Attorney Robert Bredesen represented the employer and insurer.  We kept the record open to allow a final, comprehensive affidavit attorney’s fees and closed the record on January 30, 2007 when we next met after the last pleading was filed on January 25, 2007.    


ISSUES
1. Whether the employee’s left shoulder condition is a compensable, work-related condition.

2. Attorney’s fees and costs if applicable.  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
We incorporate by reference the facts as detailed in our prior decisions in Lawhorne v. Alaska Garden & Pet, AWCB Decision No. 06-0213 (July 28, 2006) (Lawhorne I), and No. 06-0234 (August 25, 2006) (Lawhorne II).  In Lawhorne I, we denied the employee’s request for interim .041(k) stipend benefits;  in Lawhorne II, we denied the employee’s petition for reconsideration.  According to her Report of Occupational Injury, the employee, while working as a warehouse laborer, injured her head, neck and shoulders when struck by a moving forklift on December 13, 2004.  The parties disagree as to the exact mechanism of injury, and the different scenarios are discussed below more fully.  
The employee testified she began working for the employer on October 13, 2004 as a warehouse person.  Her job involved frequent lifting and stacking/stocking of pet feed bags, weighing between 50 and 100 pounds.  Prior to her injury, she had no problem with the physical requirements of her job and described herself as “good and efficient at her job” (the employee used to play competitive, collegiate basketball in the ‘90’s and continued to stay in shape).  

The employee testified that on December 13, 2004 she was outside the employer premises and was in a friendly snowball match with a co-worker, Rudy Colin.  It was near the end of the workday, and they were moving in the items displayed outside the store during the day.  She testified that Mr. Colin was driving a forklift, and had thrown snowballs at her from the forklift.  She testified that she was able to catch up to the forklift and began to throw snowballs at him in response.  She testified that after throwing her second or third snowball she came in contact with the cab of the forklift, injuring her head.  She testified she may have been jumping up at the time.  (Lawhorne dep. at 50).  She testified that she believes she was knocked to the ground, but did not lose consciousness.  (Id. at 53).  She testified that she was quite dizzy and bleeding a lot from her forehead.  She went into the warehouse restroom to clean the blood off her face and forehead.  She testified that she then went back outside and confronted Mr. Colin because she was upset with him, her supervisor, for initiating horseplay.  (Id. at 54).  

Tamika Anderson, the employee’s roommate since 2001, testified at the December 19, 2006 hearing.  She testified that she picked up the employee from work on December 13, 2004 and took her to the Providence emergency room.  She testified that when she picked up the employee, she advised her that “Rudy hit [her] with the forklift.”  She also recalled when she returned later, that Rudy advised her that he had hit the employee with a forklift.  

The employee proceeded directly to the Providence Alaska Medical Center on December 13, 2004.  The emergency room note notes the chief complaint as “Laceration of the face” and details the following history:  “The patient is a 38-year-old female who got hit by a forklift at work in the face and suffered a laceration.  She suffered no loss of consciousness.  She denies any other injuries.  She states it does hurt anywhere she got hit.”  The emergency room note diagnosed a laceration and contusion of the head, which was closed with six stitches.  

The employee followed up on December 15, 2004 with Annette Hewitt, A.N.P., who listed the employee’s complaints as follows:  “headache, neck pain, and facial pain.”  This chart note indicates the employee now complains of right shoulder pain and headaches.  Ms. Hewitt’s chart note from December 20, 2004 notes the employee had her sutures removed on December 18, 2004, and that she still complained of right shoulder tingling and shooting pain.  The note assessed, “Cervical spine strain, facial pain [secondary to] trauma.”  Ms. Hewitt recommended an “MRI C-spine @ Prov. To compare to old MRI,” use of a cervical pillow, and “consider referral to AK Spine Institute.”  

According to his recollection of the events leading up to the employee’s injury, on December 14, 2004 Rudy Colin wrote the following statement:

It started when I was by the back of the bay door on the outside of the garage door by the switch.  I got out of the forklift on the left side to get a snowball, threw it through the forklift and got Sabrina who was standing by the cat litter.  She ran towards me.  I tried to take off on the lift, but it wouldn’t go.  I stopped pressing on the gas, cuz Sabrina was right in front of me.  She bent down to throw me a snowball, I turned to the left so I wouldn’t get hit on the face.  Then I turned toward Sabrina and saw her reach for another snowball.  I turned again to avoid being hit on the face.  Third time I looked towards Sabrina and saw her walk away and go back to the shelf where the cat litter is and saw her take her gloves off.  She went back to the store order.  I drove to get a pallet to bring things in.  By my second pallet I stopped to help a customer.  When I was done I got back on the lift to continue to bring things in.  When I turned up front I saw Mary and Sabrina walking toward me.  That’s when I saw Sabrina busted up.  That’s when I said what happened to you.  Then she said I don’t remember, I’m going home, OK?  Mary said wait a minute I need to know what happen.  But Sabrina started walking away Mary and I looked at each other and she said do you know what happen to her and I said I don’t know.  That was about 10 minutes after the snowball fight, that I saw Sabrina.  

In a statement dated December 15, 2004, Mr. Colin also wrote:  

I was driving the forklift on Orca and 1st Ave. when I spotted Sabrina.  She got out of the car and said she just got through filling her incident report.  I asked her what did you shay.  She said she didn’t want to say we were horsing around and she bent down to get snow and miscalculated the forklift and hit her head when she went down to get snow.  Instead of telling the truth, she said that I was looking away when I didn’t notice she was still there and hit with the forklift as I drove off.  But I said why don’t you just say what happen?  She said she didn’t want to get in trouble for playing around.  

Mr. Colin testified consistent with his written statements at the December 19, 2006 hearing.  He primarily recalled working with the employee and Jeff Herring that day, and that after the third time he saw the employee spike a snowball, he recalled seeing the employee walk away.  He recalled Mr. Herring also witnessed the events.  Mr. Herring testified consistent at the December 19, 2006 hearing with his undated written statement:  

It all started at the bay door in the back of the store warehouse.  Rudy and I were in the process of bringing in the front lineup.  As Rudy backed out the bay door he stopped and threw a snowball at Sabrina which in turn Sabrina came out and picked up a snowball and threw it at Rudy.  Rudy was in a stopped position on the forklift and did not go anywhere until after Sabrina had thrown the snowball and had walked back in the warehouse.  After I claimed back on the forklift that I was using and started to back out of the warehouse I looked over at Sabrina and asked her if she had got him, referring to the snowball and she looked at me and said yes and at that time I did not see any kind of cut on her.  About 5 to 10 minutes later after helping a customer I came back in the store through the bunny room and I saw Sabrina coming out of the bathroom that that’s when I saw the cut on her head.  

Sean Yancey also testified at the December 19, 2006 hearing.  He is the Human Resources Manager for the employer, and investigates inquiries for the employer.  He testified that the employee was reluctant to tell him anything about the incident.  He described the employee as defensive when he was talking to her and that she seemed to avoid telling the story.  

After her initial emergency treatment, the employee began treating at Alaska Spine Institute (formerly Alaska Family Medicine Associates).  Ultimately, disputes arose between the employee’s and the employer’s physicians, and a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) was performed by Neil Pitzer, M.D., on June 20, 2006.  In his report of that same date, Dr. Pitzer provided a summary of the post-accident medical records;  we found his summation of the medical records to accurately and succinctly summarize the employee medical records, and incorporate his summary by reference.  In regard to the post-emergent care, Dr. Pitzer summarized as follows:  

Facial x-rays on 12-29-04 were negative of the facial bones.  Cervical spine x-rays showed no fractured or malalignment but mild degenerative disc disease from C4-5 through C6-7. 

Cervical MRI from 12-28-04 notes mild degenerative cervical disc disease without herniated nucleus pulposus or evidence neural impingement.  

The patient began physical therapy on 1-3-05.  They noted x-ray and MRI findings on the prescription.  Workers’ compensation goal was to get the patient back to work in two weeks.  Therapy was recommended 3-5 times per week for four weeks. 

Physical therapy notes show the patient had treatment with therapeutic and soft tissue massage.  

The patient was seen at the Alaska Spine Institute on 1-20-05 for chief complaint of neck and bilateral shoulder pain.  They noted she hit her head on a forklift at work.  She had frontal headaches and complaints of weakness in the upper extremities, neck and bilateral shoulder.  She had been off work since the injury.  Pain was a 10/10 at that time.  Medications included Bextra and Vicodin.  Physical examination showed the forehead laceration is well-healed.  Neck exam showed decreased rotation, lateral bending and flexion and extension.  Negative Spurlings.  Pain with facet loading and there was no tenderness over the cervical facet joints at C5-6.  upper extremity exam showed normal strength, sensation and reflexes.  Shoulder exam showed no impingement with normal range of motion and good grip strength bilaterally.  Lower extremity neuron exam was normal.  Imaging studies were reviewed.  Assessment was neck pain and cervical facet syndrome.  Patient was given medications and recommended to have cervical facet injections.  

Injection noted shows the patient had bilateral C3, C4 and C5 medial branch blocks under fluoroscopic guidance on 3-10-05.  There is no specific record of pain alleviation from the injection.   

Followup with Dr. Valentz on 3-29-05 noted she had excellent pain relief with injections for about three days but then the pain returned the same location.  She was on Vicodin, Soma and Cymbalta.  She reported no weakness in the upper or lower extremities and denied any headaches.  She has complaints of increased pain since injection wore off in conjunction with physical therapy.  Dr. Valentz noted increased pain with cervical facet loading.  Shoulder exam showed negative Neer and impingement signs.  Assessment was bilateral a.c. joint pain and cervical facet syndrome.  Cynmbalta was increased.  The patient was given refills of Vicodin and she was changed from Soma [to] Zanaflex.  He recommended continued therapy and acromioclavicular joint injections.  

On 4-7-05 the patient underwent bilateral acromioclavicular joint injections with steroid under fluoroscopic guidance.  

Physical therapy evaluation from the Alaska Spine Institute on 4-18-05 noted diagnosis of bilateral shoulder pain and cervical facet pain.  They note her forklift injury.  Past medical history for low back pain in the early 1990’s which had resolved completely as well as numerous bilateral knee injuries and a previous hysterectomy.  Assessment was bilateral shoulder and cervical pain.  Goals included increased strength and range of motion in the upper extremities and cervical spine.  Decreased pain and normalization of ADL and work activities.  

Followup note on 4-22-05 notes the patient had bilateral shoulder joint injections and had only temporary relief and pain returned.  Her main focus was headaches.  These were located in the frontal region.  Exam showed neck rotation of 60 degrees bilaterally.  Lateral bending is 45 degrees.  Flexion and extension combined was only 60 degrees.  Assessment said they have cervical facet syndrome and bilateral shoulder pain.  Cymbalta was increased.  Refills were given on Zanaflex and Vicodin and the patient was to continue with physical therapy which was noted to be most beneficial.  

Clinic note on 6-6-05 noted complaints of neck, bilateral shoulder pain and headaches.  Symptoms were unchanged.  She participated in physical therapy and this helped her symptoms.  There was also left shoulder pain.  Exam showed full range of motion of the neck in terms of rotation, flexion, extension and hyperextension and she had a negative Spurling’s.  Left shoulder motion showed flexion of 140 degrees and extension to T12.  Assessment was headaches, most likely tension related.  Bilateral shoulder pain and cervical pain.  Physical capacity evaluation was recommended.  She was given Vicodin and Zanaflex and was to continue with physical therapy.  

Emergency room note from 6-20-05 notes the patient was seen for left sided neck, head and shoulder pain.  Pain to neck and shoulder felt as a popping sensation.  

The patient underwent an independent medical evaluation on 6-21-05 by Dr. Schilperoot.  Complaints included neck, bilateral shoulder and right upper extremity pain and numbness.  Headache and low back pain.  The patient reported no prior problems with the dneck or face or no new injury since the 12-13-04 episode.  Extensive medical records were reviewed.  Past medical history included an injury in July of 2002 when lifting a 19-year-old out of her wheelchair and a motor vehicle accident with neck and shoulder problems that received injections.  Examination showed cervical compression and traction yielding no response with negative Spurling’s.  Palpation showed tenderness at C7 and in the midthoracic spine.  Range of motion showed markedly decreased cervical spine in all planes.  Significantly decreased bilateral shoulder motion.  The patient could not lift her arms above approximately 70-75” on either side.  Neurologic exam was negative.  Impression was facial laceration which had resolved with no permanent impairment.  Multilevel cervical spine degenerative disc disease pre-existing and causally related to the 12-13-04 episode.  Possible symptom aggravation of number two associated with 12-13-04 episode resolved with no permanent impairment of function.  Disproportionate stated level of pain to objective findings.  Strong suspicion of malingering.  Dr. Schilperoot felt there was symptom magnification and she had achieved medical stability.  He felt [the only] work related condition was the laceration.  Nor further treatment was indicated.  Patient was given no impairment.  

Physical capacities evaluation was performed on 6-23-05.  Summary included the patient was good lifting a maximum of 20 pounds and frequent lifting of 10 pounds.  This would place her in a light capacity.  She did not meet the job requirements of warehouseman.  

The patient underwent a left shoulder steroid injection under fluoroscopic guidance on 7-21-05.  

Follow up on 8-4-05 noted bilateral a.c. joint injections with steroid.  It appears the last injection helped for approximately 3 days.  She had pain with any movement of the arm and shoulder.  She had popping in her neck and shoulder with movement.  Pain was at 8/10.  She is on vicodin, Cymbalta, and Zanafles.  Assessment was left shoulder pain and left shoulder impingement.  Plan was for an MRI of the shoulder and continued current medication use.  

Left shoulder MRi with arthrogram was performed on 8-19-05.  Impression included stripping of the posterior capsule resulting in mild posterior subluxation of the humeral head.  Congenital os acromial.  Otherwise study unremarkable with no evidence of adhesive capsulitis, less stenosis, rotator cuff abnormality or acute post traumatic bone contusion.  

Procedure note on 8-19-05 includes the left shoulder arthrogram injection with gadolinium.  Followup on 9-02-05 notes she had a complaint of neck and left shoulder pain.  MRI report is available.  The patient had pain in her left shoulder with popping and a burning sensation.  She denied numbness, timgling, weakness or bowel/bladder dysfunction.  Exam of the left shoulder showed decreased motion with positive Neer and Hawkins sign on the left.  Assessment was pain in the left shoulder joint, cervical pain, degenerative changes of the posture calves of the left shoulder.  Vocational rehab was recommended.  She was to continue medications including Vicodin and Zanflex.  The patient had another physical therapy evaluation on 10-13-05 for her left shoulder pain and capsular tear.  Physical therapy was recommended at that time.  

Followup note on 11-16-05 noted she had complaints of left shoulder pain of her shoulder and complains of popping with movement.  Pain was a 7/10.  Assessment was left bicipital tendonitis.  She was given a refill of Cymbalta and Vicodin and Dr. Valentz discussed a local injection.  A left bicipital long head tendon sheath injection was performed with steroid at that time.  

Clinic followup on 12-14-05 noted her pain was eliminated for three days and then pain returned.  She was undergoing physical therapy which was making her pain worse.  He noted her neck pain had completely resolved.  Recommendations included a second opinion, continued Vicodin and Zanaflex.  

It appears the patient had a second opinion evaluation with Dr. Mason.  This note is not available.  There is a signed procedure consent form for Dr. Mason signed by Ms. Lawhorne for an arthroscopy of the left shoulder with labral repair, ORIF, left acromion and repair of rotator cuff, which is not dated.  The patient information for notes the date of operation of 2-28-06.  

This procedure, however, was not done as the employer had controverted all benefits on August 1, 2005 (later controversions were filed on December 1, 2005 and March 3, 2006).  In significant part, in his “Impression” section, Dr. Pitzer diagnosed:  

The patient is a 39-year-old female with ongoing pain complaints throughout the shoulder girdle, left greater than right, cervical area and numbness in the upper extremities after suffering a laceration to the face.  On evaluation today, the patient’s examination is more consistent with diffuse cervical and scapular myofascial pain than was obvious injury to the cervical spine, shoulders, or any cervical radiculopathy.  Her shoulder examination show significantly decreased range of motion in all planes and no evidence of any specific intrinsic shoulder abnormality, especially given her previous left shoulder MRI.  Shoulder examinations performed by Dr. Valentz shortly after her injury showed normal impingement testing and full range of motion.  Now she has positive provocative shoulder testing with any motion and severely impaired range of motion which cannot be related to any specific abnormality on MRI’s or with her trauma.  Initial evaluations after her injury noted there were not other injuries and there is no specific documentation of falling on her left shoulder or specific shoulder injuries.  

It is difficult to relate the patient’s ongoing pain complaints to her facial laceration, which is well healed and I would agree that this has resolved.  She still has some ongoing cervical pain but no evidence of any significant trauma based on MRI or x-ray findings and no evidence of radiculopathy.  I do not feel she has any cervical spine impairment.  Her shoulder exam shows significant bilateral loss of motion and positive testing which likely appears to be related to myofascial pain.  I would agree with Dr. Schilperoot that there may be some component of symptom magnification and I would not recommend any surgical intervention for this patient.  

I think the patient has reached the point of medical stability and since she has not taken her medications on a regular basis, I would recommend she be tapered off her medication and could use over-the-counter medications for pain if needed.  

Given a lack of obvious cervical injury, radiculopathy or shoulder trauma based on MRI and equivocal exam findings, I do not feel there is any permanent impairment for this patient.  The psychological assessment performed in January may be useful to reviews, but I suspect that there is also a component of depression which is likely not work-related.  

Dr. Pitzer did note in his conclusion that he found the employee did have shoulder pathology and suggested further work-up for it, yet did not relate it to the 12-13-04 incident.  

Ultimately, on referral from Dr. Valentz, Laurence Wickler, D.O., performed arthroscopic surgery on the employee on October 11, 2006.  The pre-operative diagnoses included:  1. destabilized os acromaile and 2. possible SLAP lesion.  The post-operative diagnoses were:  1. SLAP lesion and 2. destabilized os acromiale.  In his November 7, 2006 deposition, Dr. Wickler testified that his understanding of the employee’s mechanism of injury was that she was knocked over or down by a forklift, and this fall was the cause of her SLAP lesion and need for surgical repair.  (Dr. Wickler dep. at 17).  He indicated that it was confirmed, or more obvious, at the time of surgery that the employee had indeed a shoulder injury, and that these are not well seen, if ever, or MRI’s.  (Id. at 7).  Dr. Wickler testified he would expect a fall to be the cause of the employee’s injury.  (Id. at 21).  

In his deposition taken November 7, 2006, Dr. Valentz testified that in his opinion symptoms of a traumatic injury should present within the first couple of days of an injury, or the first week.  (Dr. Valentz dep. at 17).  In his opinion, it is significant that the employee did not have shoulder complaints prior to her December 2004 injury, and the shoulder pathology was related to the work injury.  (Id. at 19).   Dr. Valentz testified that a surgical shoulder repair heals slowly, up to six months.  (Id. at 11).  

Dr. Schilperoot testified telephonically at the December 19, 2006 hearing regarding his evaluations of the employee.  Dr. Schilperoot began his practice as an orthopedic surgeon in 1978.  Beginning in 1997, he limited his practice to independent medical evaluations.  In the present case, he testified he reviewed the entire medical record prior to his evaluations.  He noted that Dr. Wickler apparently reviewed only between 15 and 20 pages of the medical records.  Dr. Schilperoot testified that the history provided by the employee was inconsistent with the medical records provided.  He opined that the employee’s presentation during his examinations showed considerable functional interference.  He found it significant that other providers have identified inconsistencies.  

Dr. Schilperoot related the diagnoses of facial laceration and underlying cervical strain to the December 2004 injury.  Specific to the issue before us, he opined that the symptomatic shoulder is not related to the December 13, 2004 injury.  He noted that the employee’s symptoms would have had to arisen within 24 to 48 hours of the injury, which is not supported by the record.  He testified that there is no way to determine the age of a slap lesion, however whether or not the employee fell is “absolutely critical to this issue of compensability” explaining that an acrominum injury of this type would require a fall with downward force.  He also opined that there is no record of the employee falling.  Dr. Schilperoot testified that if she suffered capsular stripping at the time of injury, the shoulder would have been tender to palpation, which is also not supported by the record.  He acknowledged that his review of the medical record revealed zero evidence of ongoing shoulder pain prior to December 13, 2004.  He also acknowledged that only through the arthroscopy performed by Dr. Wickler could the employee’s shoulder complaints be absolutely ruled out.   

The employee testified that since Dr. Wickler’s surgical repair on October 11, 2006, she has been slowly getting better.  Ms. Anderson testified she has noticed improvement since the surgery.  

The employer argues that the medical evidence is in agreement that a fall would be necessary to produce the employee’s injuries, and that two witnesses have testified that the employee did not fall on December 13, 2004.  Furthermore, the employee did not specifically complain of left shoulder pain until weeks after her work injury.  The employer argued and provided evidence that the employee has had prior medical treatment to her left shoulder and neck.  The employer asserts that the employee is not a reliable historian and we should find her not credible based on her false medical history, invalid physical capacities evaluation, and inconsistent employment history.  The employer asserts the employee’s left shoulder condition is not work related based primarily on the medical evidence, and secondarily that the employee did not fall in the incident causing her shoulder problems.  

The employee argues that the arthroscopic surgery performed on October 11, 2006 is the “gold standard” upon which a SLAP lesion can be definitively diagnosed.  The employee suffered a blow to her forehead sufficient to necessitate 6 stitches.  The employee argued that it can in fact take a period of time for symptoms to develop in certain situations.  The employee argues that her left shoulder condition is a compensable, work related condition.  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
"In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.”  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id., at 316.  The presumption can also attach with a work-related aggravation / acceleration context without a specific event.  See, Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  

Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  See, Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989);  Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a
 substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 623 P. 2d at 317.  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1)  the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).

The employer must then rebut the presumption by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991).  The Grainger Court also explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1)  produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, 693 P. 2d at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).

If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 

Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we find as follows:  We must first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find, based on the testimony of the employee, and the reports and testimony of Drs. Valentz and Wickler, that the employee’s current shoulder condition and need for continued medical treatment is related to her December 2004 injury that she has attached the presumption that her claimed condition is compensable.  

We next determine whether the presumption is rebutted.  We find, based on the reports and testimony of Drs. Schilperoot and Pitzer that the employee’s current shoulder condition and need for treatment is not related to her December 2004 injury.  We do so without weighing credibility, and accordingly find that the employer has rebutted the presumption that the employee’s current shoulder condition is related to her work in 2004.  

Because the employer has rebutted the presumption, we review the record as whole to determine whether the employee has proved her claim, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the December 2004 work injury is a cause of her alleged current disability and need treatment.  We find she has. 

We give the most weight to the opinions and testimony of the surgical physician, Dr. Wickler.  Dr. Wickler, bases his opinion on objective evidence that finally showed proof of the employee’s shoulder SLAP lesion.  All medical opinions in this case agree that SLAP lesions are difficult to document radiographically, and for the first time in October, 2006, Dr. Wickler verified the SLAP lesion arthroscopically, and performed the appropriate surgical repair.  We find that Dr. Pitzer and Schilperoot based their opinions on the presumption that the employee did not fall during the December 13, 2004 incident, but we find it difficult believe that the employee would have contacted the forklift with sufficient force to cause a contusion and laceration requiring six stitches, without falling.  We give little weight to the testimony of Mr. Colin who said the employee did not fall, because by his own testimony, he was looking the other way (to the left) defending himself from the employee’s last snowball.  Similarly, at the December 19, 2006 hearing we were left with the impression that Mr. Herring did not see everything that transpired.  We find the employee may be a less than perfect historian, but find her credible as to her testimony that she never had chronic shoulder complaints prior to the December 13, 2004 injury.  We find she was able to successfully and proficiently perform the very heavy lifting and other job requirements required of her position with the employer.  We found the employee’s claim is corroborated by the testimony of Ms. Anderson, whom we found to be very credible.  We find the employer failed to provide an alternative explanation, or directly eliminate the possibility that the December 13, 2004 injury caused the employee’s left shoulder condition.  In sum, we find the employee fell after suffering her forehead laceration and suffered a SLAP lesion to her left shoulder, which was radiographically unsubstantiated until her October 2006 arthroscopic exploration and repair.  

Based on a preponderance of the medical and lay evidence, we conclude that the employee’s current left shoulder condition and need for medical treatment is related to the December 2004 industrial injury.  We conclude the employer is liable for the continued medical care and other related benefits for the left shoulder condition.  

As the employee has prevailed on her claim, her associated claim for attorney’s fees must also be considered.  We find an award of attorney’s fees is appropriate under AS 23.30.145, however, this statute and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.180 require the Board to review the fees to ensure that the claimed fees are reasonable.  In Mr. Rehbock’s Affidavit of fees, his fees are co-mingled with the paralegal costs, which prohibits the Board from making an effective review.  We direct Mr. Rehbock to submit a new Affidavit of Fees that segregates his fees from the paralegal costs.  We encourage Mr. Rehbock and Mr. Bredesen to try to resolve this issue without Board intervention, but we reserve jurisdiction to award a reasonable fee.  We note that Mr. Rehbock seeks his fees at a rate of $300.00 and $310.00 per hour;  we find a reasonable rate to be $250.00 based on the  hearing presentation and the briefing, which we found to be of limited guidance.  


ORDER
1. The employee’s left shoulder condition is a compensable, work-related condition.  

2. We reserve jurisdiction to award reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on March 1, 2007.






ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






Darryl Jacquot,






Designated Chairman






Resigned from Board 






S. T. Hagedorn, Member






Patricia Vollendorf, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of SABRINA W. LAWHORNE employee / applicant; v. ALASKA GARDEN & PET SUPPLY INC., employer; COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INS. CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200421412; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on March 1, 2007.






Jean Sullivan, Clerk
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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

     P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	SABRINA W. LAWHORNE, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

ALASKA GARDEN & PET SUPPLY INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200421412
AWCB Decision No. 07-0039

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on March 1, 2007


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim for benefits on December 19, 2006 and January 9, 2007 at Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Robert Rehbock represented the employee.   Attorney Robert Bredesen represented the employer and insurer.  We kept the record open to allow a final, comprehensive affidavit attorney’s fees and closed the record on January 30, 2007 when we next met after the last pleading was filed on January 25, 2007.    


ISSUES
3. Whether the employee’s left shoulder condition is a compensable, work-related condition.

4. Attorney’s fees and costs if applicable.  


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
We incorporate by reference the facts as detailed in our prior decisions in Lawhorne v. Alaska Garden & Pet, AWCB Decision No. 06-0213 (July 28, 2006) (Lawhorne I), and No. 06-0234 (August 25, 2006) (Lawhorne II).  In Lawhorne I, we denied the employee’s request for interim .041(k) stipend benefits;  in Lawhorne II, we denied the employee’s petition for reconsideration.  According to her Report of Occupational Injury, the employee, while working as a warehouse laborer, injured her head, neck and shoulders when struck by a moving forklift on December 13, 2004.  The parties disagree as to the exact mechanism of injury, and the different scenarios are discussed below more fully.  
The employee testified she began working for the employer on October 13, 2004 as a warehouse person.  Her job involved frequent lifting and stacking/stocking of pet feed bags, weighing between 50 and 100 pounds.  Prior to her injury, she had no problem with the physical requirements of her job and described herself as “good and efficient at her job” (the employee used to play competitive, collegiate basketball in the ‘90’s and continued to stay in shape).  

The employee testified that on December 13, 2004 she was outside the employer premises and was in a friendly snowball match with a co-worker, Rudy Colin.  It was near the end of the workday, and they were moving in the items displayed outside the store during the day.  She testified that Mr. Colin was driving a forklift, and had thrown snowballs at her from the forklift.  She testified that she was able to catch up to the forklift and began to throw snowballs at him in response.  She testified that after throwing her second or third snowball she came in contact with the cab of the forklift, injuring her head.  She testified she may have been jumping up at the time.  (Lawhorne dep. at 50).  She testified that she believes she was knocked to the ground, but did not lose consciousness.  (Id. at 53).  She testified that she was quite dizzy and bleeding a lot from her forehead.  She went into the warehouse restroom to clean the blood off her face and forehead.  She testified that she then went back outside and confronted Mr. Colin because she was upset with him, her supervisor, for initiating horseplay.  (Id. at 54).  

Tamika Anderson, the employee’s roommate since 2001, testified at the December 19, 2006 hearing.  She testified that she picked up the employee from work on December 13, 2004 and took her to the Providence emergency room.  She testified that when she picked up the employee, she advised her that “Rudy hit [her] with the forklift.”  She also recalled when she returned later, that Rudy advised her that he had hit the employee with a forklift.  

The employee proceeded directly to the Providence Alaska Medical Center on December 13, 2004.  The emergency room note notes the chief complaint as “Laceration of the face” and details the following history:  “The patient is a 38-year-old female who got hit by a forklift at work in the face and suffered a laceration.  She suffered no loss of consciousness.  She denies any other injuries.  She states it does hurt anywhere she got hit.”  The emergency room note diagnosed a laceration and contusion of the head, which was closed with six stitches.  

The employee followed up on December 15, 2004 with Annette Hewitt, A.N.P., who listed the employee’s complaints as follows:  “headache, neck pain, and facial pain.”  This chart note indicates the employee now complains of right shoulder pain and headaches.  Ms. Hewitt’s chart note from December 20, 2004 notes the employee had her sutures removed on December 18, 2004, and that she still complained of right shoulder tingling and shooting pain.  The note assessed, “Cervical spine strain, facial pain [secondary to] trauma.”  Ms. Hewitt recommended an “MRI C-spine @ Prov. To compare to old MRI,” use of a cervical pillow, and “consider referral to AK Spine Institute.”  

According to his recollection of the events leading up to the employee’s injury, on December 14, 2004 Rudy Colin wrote the following statement:

It started when I was by the back of the bay door on the outside of the garage door by the switch.  I got out of the forklift on the left side to get a snowball, threw it through the forklift and got Sabrina who was standing by the cat litter.  She ran towards me.  I tried to take off on the lift, but it wouldn’t go.  I stopped pressing on the gas, cuz Sabrina was right in front of me.  She bent down to throw me a snowball, I turned to the left so I wouldn’t get hit on the face.  Then I turned toward Sabrina and saw her reach for another snowball.  I turned again to avoid being hit on the face.  Third time I looked towards Sabrina and saw her walk away and go back to the shelf where the cat litter is and saw her take her gloves off.  She went back to the store order.  I drove to get a pallet to bring things in.  By my second pallet I stopped to help a customer.  When I was done I got back on the lift to continue to bring things in.  When I turned up front I saw Mary and Sabrina walking toward me.  That’s when I saw Sabrina busted up.  That’s when I said what happened to you.  Then she said I don’t remember, I’m going home, OK?  Mary said wait a minute I need to know what happen.  But Sabrina started walking away Mary and I looked at each other and she said do you know what happen to her and I said I don’t know.  That was about 10 minutes after the snowball fight, that I saw Sabrina.  

In a statement dated December 15, 2004, Mr. Colin also wrote:  

I was driving the forklift on Orca and 1st Ave. when I spotted Sabrina.  She got out of the car and said she just got through filling her incident report.  I asked her what did you shay.  She said she didn’t want to say we were horsing around and she bent down to get snow and miscalculated the forklift and hit her head when she went down to get snow.  Instead of telling the truth, she said that I was looking away when I didn’t notice she was still there and hit with the forklift as I drove off.  But I said why don’t you just say what happen?  She said she didn’t want to get in trouble for playing around.  

Mr. Colin testified consistent with his written statements at the December 19, 2006 hearing.  He primarily recalled working with the employee and Jeff Herring that day, and that after the third time he saw the employee spike a snowball, he recalled seeing the employee walk away.  He recalled Mr. Herring also witnessed the events.  Mr. Herring testified consistent at the December 19, 2006 hearing with his undated written statement:  

It all started at the bay door in the back of the store warehouse.  Rudy and I were in the process of bringing in the front lineup.  As Rudy backed out the bay door he stopped and threw a snowball at Sabrina which in turn Sabrina came out and picked up a snowball and threw it at Rudy.  Rudy was in a stopped position on the forklift and did not go anywhere until after Sabrina had thrown the snowball and had walked back in the warehouse.  After I claimed back on the forklift that I was using and started to back out of the warehouse I looked over at Sabrina and asked her if she had got him, referring to the snowball and she looked at me and said yes and at that time I did not see any kind of cut on her.  About 5 to 10 minutes later after helping a customer I came back in the store through the bunny room and I saw Sabrina coming out of the bathroom that that’s when I saw the cut on her head.  

Sean Yancey also testified at the December 19, 2006 hearing.  He is the Human Resources Manager for the employer, and investigates inquiries for the employer.  He testified that the employee was reluctant to tell him anything about the incident.  He described the employee as defensive when he was talking to her and that she seemed to avoid telling the story.  

After her initial emergency treatment, the employee began treating at Alaska Spine Institute (formerly Alaska Family Medicine Associates).  Ultimately, disputes arose between the employee’s and the employer’s physicians, and a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) was performed by Neil Pitzer, M.D., on June 20, 2006.  In his report of that same date, Dr. Pitzer provided a summary of the post-accident medical records;  we found his summation of the medical records to accurately and succinctly summarize the employee medical records, and incorporate his summary by reference.  In regard to the post-emergent care, Dr. Pitzer summarized as follows:  

Facial x-rays on 12-29-04 were negative of the facial bones.  Cervical spine x-rays showed no fractured or malalignment but mild degenerative disc disease from C4-5 through C6-7. 

Cervical MRI from 12-28-04 notes mild degenerative cervical disc disease without herniated nucleus pulposus or evidence neural impingement.  

The patient began physical therapy on 1-3-05.  They noted x-ray and MRI findings on the prescription.  Workers’ compensation goal was to get the patient back to work in two weeks.  Therapy was recommended 3-5 times per week for four weeks. 

Physical therapy notes show the patient had treatment with therapeutic and soft tissue massage.  

The patient was seen at the Alaska Spine Institute on 1-20-05 for chief complaint of neck and bilateral shoulder pain.  They noted she hit her head on a forklift at work.  She had frontal headaches and complaints of weakness in the upper extremities, neck and bilateral shoulder.  She had been off work since the injury.  Pain was a 10/10 at that time.  Medications included Bextra and Vicodin.  Physical examination showed the forehead laceration is well-healed.  Neck exam showed decreased rotation, lateral bending and flexion and extension.  Negative Spurlings.  Pain with facet loading and there was no tenderness over the cervical facet joints at C5-6.  upper extremity exam showed normal strength, sensation and reflexes.  Shoulder exam showed no impingement with normal range of motion and good grip strength bilaterally.  Lower extremity neuron exam was normal.  Imaging studies were reviewed.  Assessment was neck pain and cervical facet syndrome.  Patient was given medications and recommended to have cervical facet injections.  

Injection noted shows the patient had bilateral C3, C4 and C5 medial branch blocks under fluoroscopic guidance on 3-10-05.  There is no specific record of pain alleviation from the injection.   

Followup with Dr. Valentz on 3-29-05 noted she had excellent pain relief with injections for about three days but then the pain returned the same location.  She was on Vicodin, Soma and Cymbalta.  She reported no weakness in the upper or lower extremities and denied any headaches.  She has complaints of increased pain since injection wore off in conjunction with physical therapy.  Dr. Valentz noted increased pain with cervical facet loading.  Shoulder exam showed negative Neer and impingement signs.  Assessment was bilateral a.c. joint pain and cervical facet syndrome.  Cynmbalta was increased.  The patient was given refills of Vicodin and she was changed from Soma [to] Zanaflex.  He recommended continued therapy and acromioclavicular joint injections.  

On 4-7-05 the patient underwent bilateral acromioclavicular joint injections with steroid under fluoroscopic guidance.  

Physical therapy evaluation from the Alaska Spine Institute on 4-18-05 noted diagnosis of bilateral shoulder pain and cervical facet pain.  They note her forklift injury.  Past medical history for low back pain in the early 1990’s which had resolved completely as well as numerous bilateral knee injuries and a previous hysterectomy.  Assessment was bilateral shoulder and cervical pain.  Goals included increased strength and range of motion in the upper extremities and cervical spine.  Decreased pain and normalization of ADL and work activities.  

Followup note on 4-22-05 notes the patient had bilateral shoulder joint injections and had only temporary relief and pain returned.  Her main focus was headaches.  These were located in the frontal region.  Exam showed neck rotation of 60 degrees bilaterally.  Lateral bending is 45 degrees.  Flexion and extension combined was only 60 degrees.  Assessment said they have cervical facet syndrome and bilateral shoulder pain.  Cymbalta was increased.  Refills were given on Zanaflex and Vicodin and the patient was to continue with physical therapy which was noted to be most beneficial.  

Clinic note on 6-6-05 noted complaints of neck, bilateral shoulder pain and headaches.  Symptoms were unchanged.  She participated in physical therapy and this helped her symptoms.  There was also left shoulder pain.  Exam showed full range of motion of the neck in terms of rotation, flexion, extension and hyperextension and she had a negative Spurling’s.  Left shoulder motion showed flexion of 140 degrees and extension to T12.  Assessment was headaches, most likely tension related.  Bilateral shoulder pain and cervical pain.  Physical capacity evaluation was recommended.  She was given Vicodin and Zanaflex and was to continue with physical therapy.  

Emergency room note from 6-20-05 notes the patient was seen for left sided neck, head and shoulder pain.  Pain to neck and shoulder felt as a popping sensation.  

The patient underwent an independent medical evaluation on 6-21-05 by Dr. Schilperoot.  Complaints included neck, bilateral shoulder and right upper extremity pain and numbness.  Headache and low back pain.  The patient reported no prior problems with the dneck or face or no new injury since the 12-13-04 episode.  Extensive medical records were reviewed.  Past medical history included an injury in July of 2002 when lifting a 19-year-old out of her wheelchair and a motor vehicle accident with neck and shoulder problems that received injections.  Examination showed cervical compression and traction yielding no response with negative Spurling’s.  Palpation showed tenderness at C7 and in the midthoracic spine.  Range of motion showed markedly decreased cervical spine in all planes.  Significantly decreased bilateral shoulder motion.  The patient could not lift her arms above approximately 70-75” on either side.  Neurologic exam was negative.  Impression was facial laceration which had resolved with no permanent impairment.  Multilevel cervical spine degenerative disc disease pre-existing and causally related to the 12-13-04 episode.  Possible symptom aggravation of number two associated with 12-13-04 episode resolved with no permanent impairment of function.  Disproportionate stated level of pain to objective findings.  Strong suspicion of malingering.  Dr. Schilperoot felt there was symptom magnification and she had achieved medical stability.  He felt [the only] work related condition was the laceration.  Nor further treatment was indicated.  Patient was given no impairment.  

Physical capacities evaluation was performed on 6-23-05.  Summary included the patient was good lifting a maximum of 20 pounds and frequent lifting of 10 pounds.  This would place her in a light capacity.  She did not meet the job requirements of warehouseman.  

The patient underwent a left shoulder steroid injection under fluoroscopic guidance on 7-21-05.  

Follow up on 8-4-05 noted bilateral a.c. joint injections with steroid.  It appears the last injection helped for approximately 3 days.  She had pain with any movement of the arm and shoulder.  She had popping in her neck and shoulder with movement.  Pain was at 8/10.  She is on vicodin, Cymbalta, and Zanafles.  Assessment was left shoulder pain and left shoulder impingement.  Plan was for an MRI of the shoulder and continued current medication use.  

Left shoulder MRi with arthrogram was performed on 8-19-05.  Impression included stripping of the posterior capsule resulting in mild posterior subluxation of the humeral head.  Congenital os acromial.  Otherwise study unremarkable with no evidence of adhesive capsulitis, less stenosis, rotator cuff abnormality or acute post traumatic bone contusion.  

Procedure note on 8-19-05 includes the left shoulder arthrogram injection with gadolinium.  Followup on 9-02-05 notes she had a complaint of neck and left shoulder pain.  MRI report is available.  The patient had pain in her left shoulder with popping and a burning sensation.  She denied numbness, timgling, weakness or bowel/bladder dysfunction.  Exam of the left shoulder showed decreased motion with positive Neer and Hawkins sign on the left.  Assessment was pain in the left shoulder joint, cervical pain, degenerative changes of the posture calves of the left shoulder.  Vocational rehab was recommended.  She was to continue medications including Vicodin and Zanflex.  The patient had another physical therapy evaluation on 10-13-05 for her left shoulder pain and capsular tear.  Physical therapy was recommended at that time.  

Followup note on 11-16-05 noted she had complaints of left shoulder pain of her shoulder and complains of popping with movement.  Pain was a 7/10.  Assessment was left bicipital tendonitis.  She was given a refill of Cymbalta and Vicodin and Dr. Valentz discussed a local injection.  A left bicipital long head tendon sheath injection was performed with steroid at that time.  

Clinic followup on 12-14-05 noted her pain was eliminated for three days and then pain returned.  She was undergoing physical therapy which was making her pain worse.  He noted her neck pain had completely resolved.  Recommendations included a second opinion, continued Vicodin and Zanaflex.  

It appears the patient had a second opinion evaluation with Dr. Mason.  This note is not available.  There is a signed procedure consent form for Dr. Mason signed by Ms. Lawhorne for an arthroscopy of the left shoulder with labral repair, ORIF, left acromion and repair of rotator cuff, which is not dated.  The patient information for notes the date of operation of 2-28-06.  

This procedure, however, was not done as the employer had controverted all benefits on August 1, 2005 (later controversions were filed on December 1, 2005 and March 3, 2006).  In significant part, in his “Impression” section, Dr. Pitzer diagnosed:  

The patient is a 39-year-old female with ongoing pain complaints throughout the shoulder girdle, left greater than right, cervical area and numbness in the upper extremities after suffering a laceration to the face.  On evaluation today, the patient’s examination is more consistent with diffuse cervical and scapular myofascial pain than was obvious injury to the cervical spine, shoulders, or any cervical radiculopathy.  Her shoulder examination show significantly decreased range of motion in all planes and no evidence of any specific intrinsic shoulder abnormality, especially given her previous left shoulder MRI.  Shoulder examinations performed by Dr. Valentz shortly after her injury showed normal impingement testing and full range of motion.  Now she has positive provocative shoulder testing with any motion and severely impaired range of motion which cannot be related to any specific abnormality on MRI’s or with her trauma.  Initial evaluations after her injury noted there were not other injuries and there is no specific documentation of falling on her left shoulder or specific shoulder injuries.  

It is difficult to relate the patient’s ongoing pain complaints to her facial laceration, which is well healed and I would agree that this has resolved.  She still has some ongoing cervical pain but no evidence of any significant trauma based on MRI or x-ray findings and no evidence of radiculopathy.  I do not feel she has any cervical spine impairment.  Her shoulder exam shows significant bilateral loss of motion and positive testing which likely appears to be related to myofascial pain.  I would agree with Dr. Schilperoot that there may be some component of symptom magnification and I would not recommend any surgical intervention for this patient.  

I think the patient has reached the point of medical stability and since she has not taken her medications on a regular basis, I would recommend she be tapered off her medication and could use over-the-counter medications for pain if needed.  

Given a lack of obvious cervical injury, radiculopathy or shoulder trauma based on MRI and equivocal exam findings, I do not feel there is any permanent impairment for this patient.  The psychological assessment performed in January may be useful to reviews, but I suspect that there is also a component of depression which is likely not work-related.  

Dr. Pitzer did note in his conclusion that he found the employee did have shoulder pathology and suggested further work-up for it, yet did not relate it to the 12-13-04 incident.  

Ultimately, on referral from Dr. Valentz, Laurence Wickler, D.O., performed arthroscopic surgery on the employee on October 11, 2006.  The pre-operative diagnoses included:  1. destabilized os acromaile and 2. possible SLAP lesion.  The post-operative diagnoses were:  1. SLAP lesion and 2. destabilized os acromiale.  In his November 7, 2006 deposition, Dr. Wickler testified that his understanding of the employee’s mechanism of injury was that she was knocked over or down by a forklift, and this fall was the cause of her SLAP lesion and need for surgical repair.  (Dr. Wickler dep. at 17).  He indicated that it was confirmed, or more obvious, at the time of surgery that the employee had indeed a shoulder injury, and that these are not well seen, if ever, or MRI’s.  (Id. at 7).  Dr. Wickler testified he would expect a fall to be the cause of the employee’s injury.  (Id. at 21).  

In his deposition taken November 7, 2006, Dr. Valentz testified that in his opinion symptoms of a traumatic injury should present within the first couple of days of an injury, or the first week.  (Dr. Valentz dep. at 17).  In his opinion, it is significant that the employee did not have shoulder complaints prior to her December 2004 injury, and the shoulder pathology was related to the work injury.  (Id. at 19).   Dr. Valentz testified that a surgical shoulder repair heals slowly, up to six months.  (Id. at 11).  

Dr. Schilperoot testified telephonically at the December 19, 2006 hearing regarding his evaluations of the employee.  Dr. Schilperoot began his practice as an orthopedic surgeon in 1978.  Beginning in 1997, he limited his practice to independent medical evaluations.  In the present case, he testified he reviewed the entire medical record prior to his evaluations.  He noted that Dr. Wickler apparently reviewed only between 15 and 20 pages of the medical records.  Dr. Schilperoot testified that the history provided by the employee was inconsistent with the medical records provided.  He opined that the employee’s presentation during his examinations showed considerable functional interference.  He found it significant that other providers have identified inconsistencies.  

Dr. Schilperoot related the diagnoses of facial laceration and underlying cervical strain to the December 2004 injury.  Specific to the issue before us, he opined that the symptomatic shoulder is not related to the December 13, 2004 injury.  He noted that the employee’s symptoms would have had to arisen within 24 to 48 hours of the injury, which is not supported by the record.  He testified that there is no way to determine the age of a slap lesion, however whether or not the employee fell is “absolutely critical to this issue of compensability” explaining that an acrominum injury of this type would require a fall with downward force.  He also opined that there is no record of the employee falling.  Dr. Schilperoot testified that if she suffered capsular stripping at the time of injury, the shoulder would have been tender to palpation, which is also not supported by the record.  He acknowledged that his review of the medical record revealed zero evidence of ongoing shoulder pain prior to December 13, 2004.  He also acknowledged that only through the arthroscopy performed by Dr. Wickler could the employee’s shoulder complaints be absolutely ruled out.   

The employee testified that since Dr. Wickler’s surgical repair on October 11, 2006, she has been slowly getting better.  Ms. Anderson testified she has noticed improvement since the surgery.  

The employer argues that the medical evidence is in agreement that a fall would be necessary to produce the employee’s injuries, and that two witnesses have testified that the employee did not fall on December 13, 2004.  Furthermore, the employee did not specifically complain of left shoulder pain until weeks after her work injury.  The employer argued and provided evidence that the employee has had prior medical treatment to her left shoulder and neck.  The employer asserts that the employee is not a reliable historian and we should find her not credible based on her false medical history, invalid physical capacities evaluation, and inconsistent employment history.  The employer asserts the employee’s left shoulder condition is not work related based primarily on the medical evidence, and secondarily that the employee did not fall in the incident causing her shoulder problems.  

The employee argues that the arthroscopic surgery performed on October 11, 2006 is the “gold standard” upon which a SLAP lesion can be definitively diagnosed.  The employee suffered a blow to her forehead sufficient to necessitate 6 stitches.  The employee argued that it can in fact take a period of time for symptoms to develop in certain situations.  The employee argues that her left shoulder condition is a compensable, work related condition.  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
"In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.”  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id., at 316.  The presumption can also attach with a work-related aggravation / acceleration context without a specific event.  See, Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  

Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  See, Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989);  Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a
 substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 623 P. 2d at 317.  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1)  the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).

The employer must then rebut the presumption by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991).  The Grainger Court also explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1)  produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, 693 P. 2d at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).

If the presumption is rebutted, the employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 

Applying the presumption analysis described above to the evidence in this claim, we find as follows:  We must first consider whether the presumption attaches.  We find, based on the testimony of the employee, and the reports and testimony of Drs. Valentz and Wickler, that the employee’s current shoulder condition and need for continued medical treatment is related to her December 2004 injury that she has attached the presumption that her claimed condition is compensable.  

We next determine whether the presumption is rebutted.  We find, based on the reports and testimony of Drs. Schilperoot and Pitzer that the employee’s current shoulder condition and need for treatment is not related to her December 2004 injury.  We do so without weighing credibility, and accordingly find that the employer has rebutted the presumption that the employee’s current shoulder condition is related to her work in 2004.  

Because the employer has rebutted the presumption, we review the record as whole to determine whether the employee has proved her claim, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the December 2004 work injury is a cause of her alleged current disability and need treatment.  We find she has. 

We give the most weight to the opinions and testimony of the surgical physician, Dr. Wickler.  Dr. Wickler, bases his opinion on objective evidence that finally showed proof of the employee’s shoulder SLAP lesion.  All medical opinions in this case agree that SLAP lesions are difficult to document radiographically, and for the first time in October, 2006, Dr. Wickler verified the SLAP lesion arthroscopically, and performed the appropriate surgical repair.  We find that Dr. Pitzer and Schilperoot based their opinions on the presumption that the employee did not fall during the December 13, 2004 incident, but we find it difficult believe that the employee would have contacted the forklift with sufficient force to cause a contusion and laceration requiring six stitches, without falling.  We give little weight to the testimony of Mr. Colin who said the employee did not fall, because by his own testimony, he was looking the other way (to the left) defending himself from the employee’s last snowball.  Similarly, at the December 19, 2006 hearing we were left with the impression that Mr. Herring did not see everything that transpired.  We find the employee may be a less than perfect historian, but find her credible as to her testimony that she never had chronic shoulder complaints prior to the December 13, 2004 injury.  We find she was able to successfully and proficiently perform the very heavy lifting and other job requirements required of her position with the employer.  We found the employee’s claim is corroborated by the testimony of Ms. Anderson, whom we found to be very credible.  We find the employer failed to provide an alternative explanation, or directly eliminate the possibility that the December 13, 2004 injury caused the employee’s left shoulder condition.  In sum, we find the employee fell after suffering her forehead laceration and suffered a SLAP lesion to her left shoulder, which was radiographically unsubstantiated until her October 2006 arthroscopic exploration and repair.  

Based on a preponderance of the medical and lay evidence, we conclude that the employee’s current left shoulder condition and need for medical treatment is related to the December 2004 industrial injury.  We conclude the employer is liable for the continued medical care and other related benefits for the left shoulder condition.  

As the employee has prevailed on her claim, her associated claim for attorney’s fees must also be considered.  We find an award of attorney’s fees is appropriate under AS 23.30.145, however, this statute and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.180 require the Board to review the fees to ensure that the claimed fees are reasonable.  In Mr. Rehbock’s Affidavit of fees, his fees are co-mingled with the paralegal costs, which prohibits the Board from making an effective review.  We direct Mr. Rehbock to submit a new Affidavit of Fees that segregates his fees from the paralegal costs.  We encourage Mr. Rehbock and Mr. Bredesen to try to resolve this issue without Board intervention, but we reserve jurisdiction to award a reasonable fee.  We note that Mr. Rehbock seeks his fees at a rate of $300.00 and $310.00 per hour;  we find a reasonable rate to be $250.00 based on the  hearing presentation and the briefing, which we found to be of limited guidance.  


ORDER
3. The employee’s left shoulder condition is a compensable, work-related condition.  

4. We reserve jurisdiction to award reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.  

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on March 1, 2007.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of SABRINA W. LAWHORNE employee / applicant; v. ALASKA GARDEN & PET SUPPLY INC., employer; COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY INS. CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200421412; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on March 1, 2007.






Jean Sullivan, Clerk
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� Effective November 7, 2005, the work injury must be the substantial factor in bringing about the disability.  The employee’s August 27, 2001 date of injury pre-dates this statutory change.  


� Effective November 7, 2005, the work injury must be the substantial factor in bringing about the disability.  The employee’s August 27, 2001 date of injury pre-dates this statutory change.  
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